1988

James Sanchez v. Little America Hotel Corporation : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION AND DESCRIPTION
OF THE PROCEEDINGS BELOW

This is an appeal from an order granting summary judgment in favor of defendants. The Utah Supreme Court has jurisdiction of this appeal pursuant to Utah Code Ann. §78-2-2 (3)(j) and Utah Const. art. VIII, § 3.

V.

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. Whether Utah Code Ann. §78-12-25.5, a statute of repose which bars actions against contractors, planners and designers, after seven years, violates Article I Section 11, the open courts provision of the Utah Constitution.

2. Whether Utah Code Ann. §78-12-25.5 violates equal protection of the laws as guaranteed by Article I Sections 2 & 24 of the Utah Constitution and the 14th Amendment of the United States Constitution.

3. Whether Utah Code Ann. §78-12-25.5 applies to a mechanical subcontractor who merely supplies a defective sauna heating unit to be plugged in.

4. Whether Utah Code Ann. §78-12-25.5 can be applied to an out of state architect when there is no factual record to determine whether the architect was present in Utah after it designed the pool.

5. Whether the lower court properly certified its summary judgment order for appeal.

VI.

CONSTITUTIONAL PROVISIONS, STATUTES, ORDINANCES AND RULES

[N]o State shall make or enforce any law which shall abridge the privileges or immunities of citizens of the United States; nor shall any State deprive any person of life, liberty or property without due process of law; nor deny to any person in its jurisdiction the equal protection of the laws.

U.S. Const. amend. XIV, § 1.

All political power is inherent in the people and all free governments are founded on their authority for their equal protection and benefit, and they have the right to alter or reform their government as the public welfare may require.

Utah Const. art. I § 2.

All courts shall be open, and every person for an injury done to him in his person, property or reputation, shall have remedy by due course of law, which shall be administered without denial or unnecessary delay; and no person shall be barred from

prosecuting or defending before any trial in this State, by himself or counsel, in any civil cause to which he is a party.

Utah Const. art. I § 11.

All laws of a general nature shall have uniform operation.

Utah Const. art. I § 24.

The provisions of this Constitution are mandatory and prohibitory unless by express words they are declared to be otherwise.

Utah Const. art. I § 26.

Sec. 78-12-25.5 Injury due to defective design or construction of improvement to real property - within seven years

1(a). An action to recover damages for any injury to property, real or personal or for any injury to the person, or for bodily injury or wrongful death, arising out of the defective and unsafe condition of an improvement to real property, or any action for damages sustained on account of the injury, may not be brought against any person performing or furnishing the design, planning, surveying, supervising the construction of, or constructing the improvement to real property more than seven years after the completion of construction.

(b). * * *

2. The time limitation imposed by this section does not apply to any person in actual possession and control as owner, tenant or otherwise of the improvement at the time the defective and unsafe condition of the

improvement constitutes the proximate cause of the injury for which an action is brought.

3. This section does not extend or limit the period otherwise prescribed by state law for the bringing of any action.
4. As used in this section:
 - (a) Person means an individual corporation, partnership or other legal entity.
 - (b) "Completion of construction" means the date of issuance of the certificate of substantial completion by the owner, architect, engineer or other agent or the date of the owner's use or possession of the improvement on real property.

VII.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an appeal from an order granting summary judgment in favor of defendants Martin Stern, Jr.; AIA Architects and Associates; Rocky Mountain Pools, Inc.; Higham Hilton Mechanical Contractors, Inc.; and Okland Construction. The defendants negligently designed and constructed a swimming pool and sauna. Eight years later, plaintiff was injured while using the sauna and the pool.

The lower court granted the summary judgment solely because the accident occurred after the seven year period allowed by Utah Code Ann. §78-12-25.5 expired.

The order granting summary judgment was entered on August 4, 1988. On the same day, the lower court, pursuant to Rule 54(b) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure, certified its order for appeal.

VIII.

STATEMENT OF FACTS RELEVANT TO THE ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Appellant, James Sanchez (Sanchez) commenced his action against Little America Hotel Corp. (Little America) seeking compensation for extensive neck and back injuries suffered when he used the Little America sauna and dove into the Little America swimming pool. (R. 2-18; Deposition of James Sanchez, 11/21/87 pp. 34-48.) The accident happened on July 4, 1986. Plaintiff, a guest at the Little America Hotel, filed suit against Little America on January 14, 1987 (R. 2-18). Through discovery, plaintiff learned the identity of the following parties:

1. The general contractor - Okland Construction;

2. The swimming pool subcontractor - Rocky Mountain Pools, Inc;
3. The mechanical contractor responsible for the sauna and pool - Higham Hilton Mechanical Contractors, Inc;
4. The pool architect - Martin Stern, Jr., and AIA Little America Hotel Corporation Answers to Interrogatories, copy attached as Exhibit A.

Architects and Associates, a California corporation. The amended complaint naming these defendants was filed on or about November 16, 1987. (R. 51-82, 89-90.)

The Little America pool and sauna were substantially completed and inspected by Salt Lake City by the end of 1978. More than seven years passed between the substantial completion of the pool and the plaintiff's accident. (R. 224-225.)

The general contractor, pool and mechanical subcontractors and architect all moved the trial court for summary judgment, stating that Utah Code Ann. §78-12-25.5, a statute of repose, bars plaintiff's claims. (R. 199-201, 219-221, 232-234, 248-250.)

At the summary judgment hearing, Sanchez argued:

1. the statute of repose violates the open courts provision of the Utah Constitution;

2. the statute of repose violates equal protection of the laws guaranteed by the Utah and Federal Constitution;
3. the statute does not apply to a mechanical contractor who provides a defective product instead of constructing a defective improvement; and
4. there is not a sufficient factual record to determine whether the statute of repose was tolled as to Martin Stern Architects Associates, a California corporation, because the corporation was absent from the State after it ceased doing business with Little America.

(R. 257-270; Transcript of Proceedings 7/18/88 pp. 6-15.)

The lower court granted defendants' motions for summary judgment solely because the seven year period allowed by the statute of repose lapsed, prior to Sanchez's accident. That left Little America Hotel Corp. as the only remaining defendant. Over the objection of the appellant, the court, as an after thought at the hearing, certified its order for appeal. (R. 366-367; Tr. 5-18.)

IX.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The lower court granted summary judgment against Sanchez solely because the diving accident occurred after the seven year period allowed by Utah Code Ann. §78-12-25.5 a statute of repose.

The statute has no purpose other than to immunize architects and contractors from their torts.

The statute violates the open court provision of Article I Section 24 of the Utah Constitution because:

1. The legislature, in taking away the injured person's right to sue, did not provide a substitute remedy.
2. There is no clear economic or social evil eliminated by the statute.
3. Even if there is some mystical evil to be eliminated, the statute is arbitrary and unreasonable.

Berry v. Beech Aircraft Corp., 717 P.2d 670 (Utah 1980).

Further, the statute fails even a minimum level of equal protection scrutiny. The statute, by singling out contractors and architects for immunization while ignoring suppliers, materialmen and owners creates unreasonable

classifications. Further, the classifications do not bear a reasonable relationship to the achievement of a legitimate legislative purpose. Mountain Fuel Supply Co. v. Salt Lake City, 752 P.2d 884 (Utah 1988). There is no legitimate legislative purpose. The statute's only purpose is to immunize architects and contractors from tort liability.

In addition, there is a factual issue as to whether the statute of repose applies to Higham-Hilton, the mechanical contractor. Higham-Hilton may be liable to Sanchez for supplying a defective product rather than creating a defective real property improvement.

Further, there is a factual question as to whether the statute of repose is tolled against the out-of-state architect. The record does not establish whether the architect was absent from the state after it ceased doing business with Little America.

Finally, the case should not have been certified for appeal. The issues on appeal and the issues remaining for trial are interrelated. The lower court's piecemeal approach to appeals and litigation should be discouraged.

For these reasons, the summary judgment of the lower court should be reversed and the case remanded for trial.

X.

ARGUMENT

A. THE STATUTE OF REPOSE VIOLATES THE OPEN COURTS PROVISION OF THE UTAH CONSTITUTION.

1. Factual Background

The Little America pool complex was completed toward the end of 1978.

Eight and one-half years later, Sanchez broke his neck when he dove into the Little America Hotel swimming pool. While a guest at the hotel, Sanchez had become lightheaded using the sauna. He dove into the pool to cool off. (Sanchez deposition p. 35.)

Within seven months of the accident Sanchez sued the hotel. Through discovery Sanchez learned the identities of (1) the general contractor, (2) the pool and sauna subcontractors, and (3) the architect. Sanchez then filed an amended complaint against the contractors and architect alleging negligence, strict liability and breach of express and implied warranty.

Sanchez's basic claim is that there were no timers or warning signs in the sauna, and no warning signs near the pool. Sanchez also alleged that there was inadequate pool illumination and depth markings, all of which caused Sanchez's extensive injuries. (R. 2-18.)

The trial court granted the general contractor's, subcontractor's and architect's motions for summary judgment. The sole basis of the ruling was that the seven year time period allowed by the statute of repose expired prior to Sanchez's claim.

2. The Standard of Review.

Because this appeal presents only questions of law, the Utah Supreme court reviews the trial court's rulings for correctness and accords them no particular deference. Mountain Fuel Supply Co. v. Salt Lake City, 752 P.2d 884 (Utah 1988). For purposes of the record, it must be assumed that both the contractor and the architect were negligent in designing and constructing the pool and sauna. see, Fujioka v. Kam, 514 P.2d 568, 71 (1973).

3. The Standard of Repose.

The applicable statute of repose reads:
Sec. 78-12-25.5 Injury due to defective design or construction of improvements or real property - within seven years:

- (1)(a) An action to recover damages for any injury to property, real or personal, or for any injury to the person, or for bodily injury or wrongful death, arising out of the defective and unsafe condition of an

improvement to real property, or any action for damages sustained on account of such injury, may not be brought against any person performing or furnishing the design, planning, supervision of construction or construction of such improvement to real property more than seven years after the completion of construction.

* * *

- (2) The limitation imposed by this provision shall not apply to any person in actual possession and control as owner, tenant or otherwise, of the improvement at the time of defective and unsafe condition of such improvement constitutes the proximate cause of the injury for which it is proposed to bring an action.

* * *

- (4) As used in this section,
 - (1) "Person" shall mean an individual, corporation, partnership, or any other legal entity.
 - (2) Completion of construction for the purposes of this act shall mean the date of issuance of a certificate of substantial completion by the owner, architect, engineer or other agents, or the date of the owner's use or possession of the improvement on real property.

The statute applies to all actions seeking damages for injury to real or personal property, bodily injury or

wrongful death. Hooper Water Improvement District v. Reeve, 642 P.2d 745 (Utah 1982).

The statute of repose is sweeping and absolute once the seven year statutory period lapses. The statute prevents the injured, the owner and all others from suing the designer, planner, or contractor. Good v. Christensen, 527 P.2d 223, 224 (Utah 1974). It grants a special immunity from future liability to the contractors and architects. Hooper, at 747; see, Phillips v. ABC Builders, Inc., 611 P.2d 821 (Wyo. 1980). Since the statute begins to run from a date unrelated to the injury, it is not designed to allow a reasonable time for filing of an action once a person is injured. see, Berry v. Beech Aircraft, 717 P.2d 670, 672 (Utah 1985).

The lower court ruled that the statute bars plaintiff's lawsuit even though the cause of action did not arise until after it was barred. The statute cuts off Sanchez's action even though it was filed within the applicable four year statute of limitations.

The statute is not designed to abolish minimal claims. On the contrary, "Its obvious intent was to protect persons performing or furnishing the design, planning, supervision of construction or construction of improvements from indefinite future liability." Hooper, supra at 747.

This immunity is not related to culpability. It applies regardless of whether the conduct is intentional. It applies whether there is negligence or strict liability. Further, neither the apparent danger of the construction nor the expected useful life of the construction affects the immunity conferred. The immunity protects the contractor, planner or designer whether the building has a useful life of ten or one hundred years. Contractors and architects are protected even if the defect is not detectable by the owner or user so the injured is wholly unable to protect himself. c.f. Berry at 673.

4. Historical Context of Contractor Liability Law

The liability of contractors, architects, and engineers engaged in the construction of buildings follows the general path of product liability law but lags behind product liability law by some twenty years. W.L. Prosser and W.P. Keeton, The Law of Torts, §104A at 722 (5 ed. 1984).

Originally, the courts held that a contractor, architect or engineer could not be liable once the structure was completed and accepted by the owner. Id. As in the case of products liability law, the change in the law began with a

series of exceptions. These exceptions permitted lawsuits directly against the contractor or architect where:

1. The contractor knew it was dangerous and defective; or
2. The individual plaintiff's use was intended or anticipated; or
3. The construction was imminently dangerous; or
4. The construction was a nuisance infringing on the rights of land owners or the public.

Prosser, at 723.

As in the case of products liability law, the exceptions swallowed up the rule until the analogy of McPherson v. Buick Motor Co. was presently and finally accepted. Prosser, at 723. The contractor is now liable to all those who may foreseeably be injured by the structure, not only when he fails to disclose known dangerous conditions, but also when the work is negligently done. This applies not only to contractors doing original work, but also to those who make repairs or install parts, architects and engineers. There is liability for negligent design as well as for negligent construction. Prosser, at 723.

5. Utah Const. Article I Section 11 - Utah's Open Courts Provision

Article I Section 11 of the Utah Constitution is part of the declaration of rights contained in our State's constitution. It declares that an individual shall have a right to a remedy by due course of law, for injury to person, property or reputation. Its purpose is directly contrary to that of the statute of repose.

Utah Const. art. I § 11 reads:

All courts shall be open, and every person for an injury done to him in his person, property or reputation, shall have remedy by due course of law which shall be administered without denial or unnecessary delay. . . .

Thirty-seven states have similar constitutional provisions. The concept of the open courts provision originated with the Magna Carta. Berry v. Beech Aircraft Corp., 717 P.2d 670, 674 (Utah 1985).

Utah's constitutional guarantee of access to the court is not an empty gesture. Rather it:

[I]s solid core upon which all our state laws must be premised. Clearly and unequivocally our constitution directs that the courts of this state shall be open to the injured and oppressed. We are unable to view this constitutional mandate as a faint echo to be skirted or ignored. Our constitution is free to provide greater protection for our citizens than are required under the federal constitution. . . .Our

constitution has spoken and it is our duty to listen.

Berry, at p. 676-677 quoting Daugaard v. Baltic Cooperative Building Supply Assoc., 349 N.W.2d 419, 425 (S.D. 1974].

Individuals are entitled to a remedy by due course of law for injuries to person, property or reputation. The purpose of Article I Section 11 is to limit the legislature's power to change laws when the changes are detrimental to the persons who are injured. The injured are generally isolated in society, belong to no identifiable group and rarely are able to rally the political process to their aid. Berry, at p. 676.

Recently, this Court determined whether a similar statute of repose violates Article I Section II. In Berry, supra, the court, after using a two part analysis, held that a products liability statute of repose violates Utah's open courts provision. The Berry analysis dictates the same result in this case. The statute of repose violates Article I, Section 11 of the Utah Constitution.

In Berry, this court said:

Section 11 is satisfied if the law provides an injured person an effective and reasonable alternative by due cause of law.

* * *

The benefit provided by the substitute must be substantially equal in value or other benefit to the remedy abrogated. . .

although the form of the remedy may be different.

Berry, at 680; see generally, Maisch v. United States Smelting and Refining and Mining Co., 113 U. 101, 191 P.2d 612, 624 (1984).

In the present case, the legislature did not provide a substitute remedy. Prior to the statute of repose, injured persons like Sanchez, could sue the owner, the contractors and the architect for injury compensation. Because of the statute, Sanchez can only sue the owner.

In Berry, the court explained that if there is no substitute remedy provided, (and in this case there is none), the statute of repose may be justified only if there is a clear, social or economic evil to be eliminated, and elimination of the existing legal remedy is not an arbitrary or unreasonable means for achieving the objective. Berry, at 680. In Berry, the legislature's purpose, as set forth in the statute, was to reduce the evil of high insurance premiums. This Court rejected the statute's purpose.

In this case, unlike Berry, the statute does not set forth any clear social or economic evil to be eliminated. It is apparent from the statute itself, that the sole object, purpose and scope of the statute is to grant designers, planners and contractors immunity from lawsuits for their

tortious conduct. Hooper, supra; see, Broome v. Truluck, 241 S.E.2d 739 (S.C. 1978). The statute has no other purpose. There is no social or economic evil to be eliminated.

Even if there is some mystical social or economic evil to be eliminated by Utah Code Ann. §78-12-25.5, summary judgment is inappropriate because the court is required to make a factual finding as to whether the statute is an arbitrary and unreasonable means for achieving the objective. Berry, at 682.

In Berry, this court found a product's liability statute of repose to be unreasonable, arbitrary and unconstitutional on the following facts:

a. The statute applied to all kinds of products irrespective of the product's useful life;

b. The record did not establish any significant increase in product's liability litigation in Utah;

c. The statute could not reduce premiums because insurance companies set premiums on nationwide data;

d. The number of claims barred would not be sufficient to affect insurance premiums rates.

e. The statute would provide less incentive to manufacturers to make their products safe.

Berry, at 681-83.

In the present case, the identical facts set forth above, so far as they are known, establish that this statute is unreasonable, arbitrary and unconstitutional. The statute applies to all kinds of construction irrespective of its useful life. The record does not establish any increase in construction liability litigation. There is nothing suggesting insurance premiums are lowered. The statute provides less incentive to make real property improvements safe.

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