1988

James Sanchez v. Little America Motel, Inc. : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Utah Code Annotated 78-12-25.5 is constitutional and was properly applied by the district court to dismiss plaintiff's claims on summary judgment. Martin Stern, Jr. AIA Architect & Associates (hereafter "Martin Stern"), in the interest of brevity, adopts the arguments made and authorities cited in the superior brief of co-defendant Okland Construction Company, including the arguments predicated upon the doctrine of stare decisis, the open courts analysis and the equal protection

analysis advanced therein.

Martin Stern joins with Okland Construction with respect to Point II of Okland's brief regarding the summary judgment granted to Okland against Little America Hotel on the claims for indemnification. Martin Stern did not joint Okland in its motion against the claims raised against Martin Stern on the same theories because Martin Stern elected to first clarify through additional discovery that there is no basis for a claim for contractual indemnification against Martin Stern by Little America. As Martin Stern will advance the same argument made by Okland Construction in due course, it joins with Okland in the arguments advanced in Okland's brief.

There was no basis to deny Martin Stern's motion for summary judgment against plaintiff under the provisions of §78-12-35, a provision which purports to toll applicable statutes of limitation against persons when they are out of the state. The Supreme Court of the United States has recently ruled that provisions such as §78-12-35 present an unconstitutional and unwarranted restriction upon interstate commerce when applied to a corporate defendant such as Martin Stern under these circumstances. The summary judgment of the trial court must therefore be affirmed.

ARGUMENT

POINT I.

MARTIN STERN IS NOT PRECLUDED FROM RAISING THE STATUTE OF REPOSE AT 78-12-25.5 FOR HAVING FAILED TO PLEAD SAME.

In the district court and in his docketing statement filed with this court, plaintiff asserted that defendant Martin Stern failed to plead the statute of repose at 78-12-25.5 U.C.A., as amended, in its answer, and could therefore not predicate a motion for summary judgment upon the same. After discussions between counsel, plaintiff has dropped this issue from his brief, recognizing that Martin Stern did in fact plead the statute of repose in its answer to plaintiff's Second Amended Complaint dated April 15, 1988. Therein, in the second defense, Martin Stern alleged:

Second Defense

Plaintiff's claims against this defendant are barred by virtue of the provisions of §78-12-25.5 U.C.A., 1953 as amended, for the reason that more than seven (7) years have elapsed after the completion of construction of the swimming pool and sauna and/or other improvements to real property which form the basis for plaintiff's claims.

Martin Stern's understanding is that plaintiff has dropped this aspect of his appeal after recognizing that the statute of repose actually was pled in the only response ever filed by Martin Stern to any claim of plaintiff against it. Martin Stern intends that there be no confusion or misunderstanding in this appeal that it did plead the statute of repose as an affirmative defense to plaintiff's complaint.

POINT II.

UTAH CODE ANNOTATED §78-12-25.5 IS
CONSTITUTIONAL AND PROPERLY SUPPORTS THE
GRANT OF SUMMARY JUDGMENT TO MARTIN STERN.

As has been noted in the brief of Okland, statutes are endowed with a strong presumption of validity. They should not be declared unconstitutional if there is any reasonable basis upon which they can be found to come within the constitutional framework. Murray City v. Hall, 663 P.2d 1314 (Utah 1983).

Indeed, the Colorado Supreme Court, in evaluating a challenge similar to that raised by plaintiff here against the Colorado statute of repose for architects and contractors stated that "[w]e note that the statute is presumed to be constitutional and the plaintiff bears the burden of proving unconstitutionality beyond a reasonable doubt." (citations omitted.) Yarbro v. Hilton Hotels Corp., 655 P.2d 822, 824-825 (Supreme Court of Colorado, En Banc, 1982) (reh.den. 1983.)

In the interest of brevity and to avoid unnecessary repetition, Martin Stern hereby incorporates the arguments advanced in the superior brief filed by Donald J. Purser and Dwight C. Packard of and for Purser, Okazaki & Berrett, counsel for defendant/respondent Okland Construction Company. Martin Stern borrows from the brief of co-respondent Okland with the permission of its counsel and specifically incorporates all of Point I of Okland's brief hereat by reference. This incorporation is intended to incorporate Okland's arguments respecting the doctrine of stare decisis, its argument respecting

the open courts provisions of the Constitution of Utah and its arguments respecting the equal protection provisions of the Constitution of Utah and the Constitution of the United States.

In further support of those arguments, Martin Stern notes that this court was presented with a further opportunity to address the constitutionality of the statute of repose at §78-12-25.5 U.C.A. upon arguments predicated upon Berry v. Beech Aircraft Corp., 717 P.2d 670 (Utah 1985) in the case Jackson v. Layton City, 743 P.2d 1196 (Utah 1987). While it appears that the argument may have been raised for the first time on oral argument, this court's opinion does not indicate that the court declined to consider the arguments advanced on that basis.

In Jackson, plaintiffs asserted that the seven (7) year statute of repose extended their time for bringing suit against an owner in possession which had also planned and constructed the improvements claimed to have caused plaintiffs' personal injuries. The court noted that the Jacksons had an effective remedy against Layton City as owner in possession of the property that could have been filed within four years from the date of plaintiffs' injuries. Thus the plaintiffs were unable to invoke Berry v. Beech Aircraft Corp., supra, to attack the constitutionality of 78-12-25.5. This court affirmed the trial court ruling under 78-12-25.5 that dismissed Jacksons' actions against Layton City as the improver of the property because, from the record, it appeared that the subject improvements had been completed for over seven (7) years before the Jacksons filed

their Complaint.

The decision of the Colorado Supreme Court in Yarbro v. Hilton Hotels Corp., 655 P.2d 822, supra, fully addressed arguments attacking the constitutionality of a similar Colorado statute of repose respecting architects and contractors. The Colorado statute, as here, was challenged on both due process and equal protection grounds.

In addressing the due process arguments, the Colorado court observed that limitations of liability for architects and others similarly situated by reasonable means do serve a legitimate public purpose. 655 P.2d 825. Citing Rosenberg v. Town of North Bergen, 61 N.J.190, 293 A.2d 662 (1972). The court noted:

There comes a time when [the defendant] ought to be secure in his reasonable expectation that the slate has been wiped clean of ancient obligations, and he ought not to be called to resist a claim when "evidence has been lost, memories have faded and witnesses have disappeared." 61 N.J. at 201, 293 A.2d at 667-668 (1972) quoting Developments in the Law, Statutes of Limitations, 63 Harv. L.Rev. 1177, 1185 (1950).

655 P.2d 825. The court further noted, quoting Mishek v. Stanton, 616 P.2d 135, 138 (Colo. 1980):

The general rule is that a statute of limitations . . . does not violate due process "unless the time fixed by the statute is manifestly so limited as to amount to a denial of justice The legislature is the primary judge of whether the time allowed . . . is reasonable." Oberst v. Mays, 148 Colo. 285, 292, 365 P.2d 902, 905 (citations omitted)

655 P.2d 825. The Colorado court noted that since construction projects generally have expected useful lives of many decades,

possibilities for long term liability for builders and architects are enormous. The court affirmed the policy adopted by the General Assembly of Colorado to limit the extended exposure to liability of these persons by barring suits against architects brought without the period of repose specified in the statute. Because the Colorado statute was rationally related to a permissible state objective, it did not violate due process.

Similarly, the Utah statute of repose at 78-12-25.5 is rationally related to and furthers the same permissible state objective and does not violate due process of the law.

The Yarbro court similarly dismissed the related "open courts" argument raised by the plaintiff in that action, noting that as the statute applied to nonvested rights to sue an architect or contractor and to vested rights which were not timely prosecuted, the statute did not violate the open courts provision of the Colorado Constitution. That provision is similar in effect to Article I, Section 11 of the Constitution of Utah. The Yarbro court held that since the time for filing suit against the architect in that case had lapsed pursuant to the statute prior to the time of the plaintiff's/decedent's injuries, the cause of action against the architect never arose or vested. 655 P.2d 827. The court thus rejected the argument attacking the referenced statute of repose predicated upon the Colorado open courts provision. This court should reject plaintiff's arguments on the same basis because, as noted in the brief of Okland, plaintiff has not been denied a remedy against the owner

of the property.

The Yarbro court also addressed an attack on the statute of repose on equal protection grounds. As here, plaintiff Yarbro argued that the statute granted immunity to a certain classification of defendants without a rational basis. The Yarbro court noted that since no fundamental right or class such as race, sex or national origin was involved, scrutiny of the statute was based upon the inquiry as to whether the statutory classification was reasonably related to a legitimate state objective. 655 P.2d 827 citing Friedman v. Rogers, 440 U.S. 1, 17, 99 S.Ct. 887, 898, 59 L.Ed.2d 100 (1979); New Orleans v. Duke, 427 U.S. 297, 303-304, 96 S.Ct. 2513, 2516-2517, 49 L.Ed.2d 511 (1976); Cudahy Co. v. Ragnar Benson, Inc., 514 F.Supp. 1212, 1217 (D.Colo. 1981). 655 P.2d 827.

The Yarbro court, as previously observed by Okland in its brief, noted the rational basis for a distinction between architects and contractors on one hand and materialmen and owners on the other. Beyond the reasons discussed in the Yarbro case, the following other factors should be considered which justify the rationality of the distinction:

1. Builders and architects are subjected to a broad scope of liability which requires limitation. As noted by the Pennsylvania Supreme Court in Freezer Storage, Inc. v. Armstrong Cork Co., 382 A.2d 715 (Pa. 1976):

The scope of liability of the class of builders differs significantly from that of the class of owners. First, the class of persons to whom builders may be liable is

larger than the class to which owners may be liable. Landowners may be liable to others who come onto their land. Builders, however, may be liable both to the landowners and to others who use the land. Second, a builder may be liable for construction defects under various legal theories -- contract, warranty, negligence, and perhaps strict liability in tort. Landowner liability for such defects, on the other hand, typically lies only in tort, unless the land owner is a lessor, in which case he is liable only for events occurring while the tenant is in possession.

382 A.2d 718. See also Barnhous v. Pinole, 183 Cal.Rptr. 881 (Cal.App. 1982); Cheswold Volunteer Fire Co. v. Lambertson Construction Co., 489 A.2d 413 (Del. 1984); Beecher v. White, 417 N.E.2d 662 (Ind.App. 1983).

2. It is rational to limit the liability of builders and architects since they have no control over the building after relinquishing it to the owner. After the owner of a structure accepts the finished product, the architect has no right to control the number and type of persons entering the building or to regulate the condition of entry. Following acceptance of the completed structure, there is a possibility of neglect, abuse, poor maintenance, improper modification and unskilled repair. The architect and builder have no opportunity to make ongoing inspections or to control these factors. These distinctions have been recognized and accepted by a number of courts in sustaining the constitutionality of their respective state architects' statutes of repose. See Barnhous v. Pinole, supra; Yarbro v. Hilton Hotels Corp., 655 P.2d 822, supra and Cheswold Volunteer Fire Co. v. Lambertson Construction Co., supra.

3. Statistically a seven (7) year period in which to bring an action against an architect will encompass almost all claims that will arise. As noted in Okland's brief, Congressional studies have indicated that the overwhelming majority of claims brought against architects are brought within seven (7) years of completion of construction. This is true because most defects in the design or construction of improvements to real property manifest within seven (7) years. See Hearing on H.R. 6527, H.R. 6678 and H.R. 11544 before Subcommittee No. 1 of the House Committee on the District of Columbia, 90th Cong., 1st Session 28 (1967).

4. Buildings may last for literally hundreds of years and a limitation is needed to eliminate perpetual liability on the part of architects. This is especially apparent given problems of proof in defending stale claims. As noted in Okland's brief, there are already problems of proof presented in this case with respect to the routine destruction of city building inspection records and the death of the inspector who inspected these premises on behalf of Salt Lake City Corporation. Brief of Okland, page 15; Transcript of Hearing on Motions for Summary Judgment, page 6; Record at 513.

5. The statute under consideration promotes innovation and experimentation to the end of improving design and construction of improvements to real property. As noted in O'Brien v. Hazelet & Erdal, 299 N.W.2d 336, 342 (Mich. 1980):

Innovations are usually accompanied by some unavoidable risk. Design creativity might be

stifled if architects and engineers labored under the fear that every untried configuration might have unsuspected flaws that could lead to liability decades later.

Cited in Yarbro v. Hilton Hotels, 655 P.2d 822, 828.

There is no question that the statute enacted by the Utah Legislature to secure repose from actions against architects and contractors after improvements to real property have been completed for more than seven years is rationally related to accomplish legitimate legislative objectives. The statute thus passes muster under the equal protection clauses of both state and federal constitutions. For these reasons and based upon the reasons and arguments cited in the brief of Okland, the appeal of Sanchez with respect to the constitutionality of 78-12-25.5 must be denied and the order of the district court granting summary judgment to Martin Stern must be affirmed.

POINT III.

THE PROVISIONS OF U.C.A. 78-12-35 (THE TOLLING STATUTE) MAY NOT OPERATE TO DENY MARTIN STERN SUMMARY JUDGMENT.

Plaintiff argues that the district court's summary judgment order in favor of Martin Stern was inappropriate and/or premature because it has not been established in the record whether Martin Stern, a California corporation, ceased doing business in Utah after it completed its work on the Little America project. Plaintiff relies upon the tolling statute found at 78-12-35.

Plaintiff's argument fails and Martin Stern was properly entitled to summary judgment because, as applied to Martin Stern, the tolling provisions of 78-12-35 are unconstitutional as an

impermissible restriction upon interstate commerce under the rule of Bendix Autolite Corp. v. Midwesco Enterprises, Inc., _____ U.S. _____; 108 S.Ct. 2218; 100 L.Ed.2d 896, 56 U.S.L.W. 4648, Westlaw: 1988 W.L. 59900 (U.S.) (decided June 17, 1988).

In Bendix Autolite, Bendix sued an Illinois corporation not qualified to do business in Ohio for breach of contract in relation to a boiler which had been installed by Midwesco in Ohio. Bendix brought suit in federal district court in Ohio against Midwesco. Midwesco asserted the Ohio statute of limitations as a defense. Bendix argued that the limitation did not run because Midwesco was an Illinois corporation not qualified in Ohio and therefore the running of the statute of limitations was tolled pursuant to a provision in the Ohio Revised Code similar to the provisions of §78-12-35 U.C.A., 1953.¹

The Supreme Court of the United States held that states may

¹ Ohio Rev. Code Ann. §2305.15 (Supp. 1987) provides as follows:

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